THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM NEWBERRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2014-001215

Larry E. Koon and Allen Lee Koon by and through his attorney in fact, Larry E. Koon, Respondents,

v.

Thomas Jackson Construction Inc, Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Mindy W. Zimmerman (75793)
W. Coleman Lawrimore (100668)
Zimmerman and Shealy, LLC
1207 Friend Street
Mailing: P.O. Box 1207
Newberry, South Carolina 29108
Attorneys for Appellant

RECEIVED

DEC 05 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS?
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2006, in Civil Action No. 2006-CP-36-395 (the “original action”), the Appellant, Thomas Jackson Construction, Inc. (“Jackson”), sought a judgment in its favor against the Respondent Allen Lee Koon's (“Koon”) business, Lake Murray Tree, Inc. (“Lake Murray”), on an unpaid open account. After the parties agreed to refer the original action to James S. Verner as Special Referee for Newberry County (the “Special Referee”), a judgment was entered with the Newberry Clerk of Court on August 6, 2007 in favor of Jackson in the amount of \$25,056.00 following a trial on the merits before the Special Referee. Jackson filed supplemental proceedings in August 2008, because the judgment against Lake Murray remained unpaid. After Koon’s failure to produce items requested by subpoena, Jackson filed a Motion for Contempt Order and Sanctions. After a hearing on the motion, the Special Referee issued a sanction pursuant to Rule 37, SCRPC which resulted in an award against Koon, personally, as Lake Murray’s sole officer and shareholder, in the amount of \$32,858.80. (Record pp. 145-151.) Neither Koon nor Lake Murray ever satisfied the judgment.

On November 24, 2012, Koon was arrested and charged with the murder of his late wife, Cindy Koon. He remains in jail, awaiting trial. On May 15, 2013, Koon, transferred his one-half (1/2) interest in a certain 23.194 acre land parcel to his father, Respondent Larry E. Koon (“Larry Koon”). On May 16, 2013, by Deed of Distribution from the Estate of Cindy Koon, Larry Koon acquired title to the remaining one-half (1/2) interest in the 23.194 acre parcel. Larry Koon did not elect to perform a title search in the instance of either transfer. The above described tract of land is the underlying subject matter of this action. Both Koon and Larry Koon allege that they obtained knowledge of

the judgment attached to the subject property around or about August 2013. Further, Jackson issued a "Partial Release of Judgment" on November 7, 2013 in the amount \$11,000.00 against the judgment described above which had been attached to several pieces of Koon's real property. (Record p. 136.)

On February 26, 2014, the Respondents filed the present action against the Jackson seeking to relieve Koon, individually, and Larry Koon, as Koon's attorney in fact, from the personal judgment and for an order directing the Clerk of Court to satisfy the judgment of record. Jackson received service on March 1, 2014.

On March 12, 2014, Jackson filed an Answer, Defenses, and Counterclaim, along with a Motion to Dismiss. A hearing was scheduled on the Motion to Dismiss for April 9, 2014.

On March 27, 2014, Respondents filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. On April 7, 2014, Jackson submitted a Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment. On April 8, 2014, Respondents submitted a Reply to Defendant's Counterclaim, a Brief in Opposition to the Motion to Dismiss and in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, and a Reply to Defendant's Memorandum in Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment.

A hearing was held on April 9, 2014 before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker. In the Final Order dated May 30, 2104 and filed with the Clerk of Court on June 2, 2014, Judge Hocker entered a judgment in favor of the Respondents, denying Jackson's Motion to Dismiss and granting Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment.

The Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on June 4, 2014.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The instant matter stems from the original action, in which the Appellant, Jackson, sought a judgment in its favor against Lake Murray on an unpaid account. Lake Murray, by and through its sole shareholder and officer, Koon, hired Jackson as a sub-contractor for work relating to Hurricane Katrina clean-up and the Louisiana Disaster Relief programs. Jackson never received compensation for its work in Louisiana, which resulted in the original action. (Record pp. 298-300.)

By Consent Order, the matter was referred to the Special Referee on June 16, 2006. (Record 231-232.) Incident to the Consent Order, the parties agreed to schedule a trial on the merits before the Special Referee on July 11, 2007. Both parties were present, represented by counsel, and allowed to present testimony as to the facts of the case at the July 11 trial. Following the trial, the Special Referee entered an Order, executed on July 31, 2007 and filed on August 6, 2007, which awarded judgment in favor of Jackson in the amount of \$25,056.00. (Record 214-216.) On March 27, 2008, an execution against property was issued by the Clerk of Court in connection with the judgment. The execution was returned *nulla bona* on June 28, 2008. (Record 190-195.)

In August 2008, the judgment was still unpaid; therefore, Jackson filed supplemental proceedings against Lake Murray. (Record 183-184.) During the course of these proceedings, Lake Murray, through the actions or failures to act of its sole shareholder and officer, Koon, repeatedly failed to comply with subpoenas and produce requested documents which required numerous Motions to Compel. Furthermore, the documents that were produced by Lake Murray, showed evidence that Koon was funneling money and assets to fund his personal expenses for online poker debts, Harley

Davidson merchandise, the mortgage to his residence, and a Carnival cruise. At the conclusion of the proceedings, the Court granted Jackson's Motion for Contempt Order and Sanctions. The Court took special effort to outline the fact that Koon, as sole shareholder and officer of Lake Murray, was to be held personally liable, pursuant Rule 37, SCRPC, as a sanction for his "complete disregard for legal obligations and compliance with court orders." Therefore, the Court ordered that Jackson be awarded judgment against Koon, personally, in the amount of \$32, 858.80, which represented the amount of the judgment against his business, Lake Murray, plus interest, at the rate of 12.25% compounded annually, through December 6, 2009. (Record 146-151.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

It is patent that a trial level judge may dismiss a claim when the Defendant demonstrates that the Plaintiff has failed "to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action" in the pleadings filed with the court. Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC. A trial judge presiding over a 12(b)(6), SCRPC Motion to Dismiss must construe the Complaint in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party and determine if the "facts alleged and the inferences reasonably deducible from the pleadings would entitle the Plaintiff to relief on any theory of the case". Williams v. Condon, 347 S.C. 227, 232-232, 553 S.E.2d 496, 499 (Ct. App. 2001); Rydde v. Morris, 381 S.C. 643, 646, 675 S.E.2d 431, 433 (2009) (citing and quoting Williams with approval). On appeal of the trial court's grant or denial of a motion to dismiss for failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, the appellate court applies the same standard of review as the presiding trial level judge. Williams, 347 S.C. at 233, 553 S.E.2d at 499.

In reviewing the grant of summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard that governs the trial court under Rule 56, SCRPC: summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Pittman v. Grand Strand Entm't, Inc., 363 S.C. 531, 536, 611 S.E.2d 922, 925 (2005). In ruling on a motion for summary judgment, the presiding trial level judge must view the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Wilson v. Moseley, 327 S.C. 144, 146, 488 S.E.2d 862, 863 (1997); see also Lord v. D&J Enter., Inc., 407 S.C. 544, 553, 757 S.E.2d 695, 699 (2014) (citing Baughman v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co., 306 S.C. 101, 11, 410 S.E.2d 537, 545 (1991) for the proposition that "Under Rule 56(c), the party seeking summary judgment has the initial responsibility of demonstrating the absence of a genuine issue of material fact."). The appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the appellant, the non-moving party below. Madison ex rel. Bryant v. Babcock Center, Inc., 371 S.C. 123, 134, 638 S.E.2d 650, 656 (2006).

ARGUMENTS

Appellant contends that the trial court erred in two particulars. First, the trial court erred its denying Jackson's Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC Motion to Dismiss. Second, the trial court's grant of Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment was improvident. The trial court's errors and abuses of discretion stem from misapplication of the applicable law discussed below.

I. The trial court erred in denying the Jackson's Motion to Dismiss.

The trial court improperly denied the Appellant's Motion to Dismiss for two reasons. First, the trial court improperly held that that Rule 37(b)(2), SCRCP does not allow for a judgment previously entered against a corporation to later be entered against an individual officer of the corporation, who is not a named party to the original action, as a sanction for discovery abuses. Second, the trial court erred in its conclusion that the instant matter was brought within a "reasonable time" for purposes of setting the judgment aside pursuant to Rule 60(b)(2), SCRCP.

- A. The trial court incorrectly held that Rule 37(b)(2) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure does not allow the entry of judgment against a corporate officer or managing agent as a sanction.

Rule 37(b)(2), SCRCP, explicitly states:

If a party **or an officer, director, or managing agent of a party** or a person designated under Rule 30(b)(6) or 31(a) to testify on behalf of a party fails to obey an order to provide or permit discovery, including an order made under subdivision (a) of this rule or Rule 35, or if a party fails to obey an order entered under Rule 26(f), the court in which the action is pending may make such orders in regard to the failure as are just, and **among others** the following ... An order striking out pleadings or parts thereof, or staying further proceedings until the order is obeyed, or dismissing the action or proceeding or any part thereof, or rendering a judgment by default against the disobedient party. Rule 37(b)(2)(C), SCRCP (emphasis added).

In deciding what sanction to impose for failure to disclose evidence during the discovery process under the rules of civil procedure, the trial court should weigh the nature of the interrogatories, the discovery posture of the case, willfulness, and the degree of prejudice.

Historic Charleston Holdings, LLC v. Mallon, 381 S.C. 417, 435, 673 S.E.2d 448, 457 (2009).

Sanctions imposed for failure to comply with a discovery order generally should be aimed at the specific conduct of the party sanctioned and not go beyond the necessities of the situation to foreclose a decision on the merits of the case. Jamison v. Ford Motor Co., 373 S.C. 248, 270, 64 S.E.2d 755, 766 (Ct. App. 2007). Rule 37(b)(2)(C), SCRPC allows the trial court to have discretion to impose a sanction it deems just when a party fails to comply with a discovery order. McNair v. Fairfield County, 379 S.C. 462, 466, 665 S.E.2d 830, 832 (2008). In deciding what sanction to impose for failure to disclose evidence during the discovery process, the trial court should weigh the nature of the interrogatories, the discovery posture of the case, willfulness, and the degree of prejudice. Samples v. Mitchell, 329 S.C. 105, 112, 495 S.E.2d 213, 217 (Ct. App. 1997) (finding sanctions imposed by trial judge were not meaningful enough to protect the rights of discovery provided by the Rules). Further, the trial court's decision regarding the imposition of discovery sanctions will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. Id. at 216.

Overly lenient sanctions are to be avoided where they result in inadequate protection of discovery. Id. at 217. However, when a court orders a sanction that results in a default judgment or dismissal, the “end result is harsh medicine that should not be administered lightly.” Griffin Grading & Clearing, Inc. v Tire Serv. Equip. Mfg. Co., Inc., 334 S.C. 193, 198, 511 S.E.2d 716, 718 (Ct. App. 1999). When a sanction “would be tantamount to granting a judgment by default, the moving part must show bad faith, willful disobedience or gross indifference to its rights to justify the sanction. Id. at 198-199 and 719.

In McNair, this Court presided over an appeal incident to which the Appellant sought to set aside the trial court's order granting Respondent's motion for sanctions, which included provisions that struck Appellant's Answer and dismissed its condemnation action with prejudice. McNair, 379 S.C. at 465, 655 S.E.2d at 831. The trial court then denied Respondent's motion to reconsider its order. On appeal, this Court began by noting that Rule 37(b)(2), SCRPC gives the trial court the authority to impose a sanction it deems just, including dismissing the action, and such a sanction will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. Id. at 465-466 and 832. This Court, citing longstanding South Carolina precedent, noted that a dismissal with prejudice of Appellant's condemnation claim was a severe sanction and, as such, should only be imposed in cases involving bad faith, willful disobedience, or gross indifference to the opposing party's rights. Id. However, the trial court made a specific finding that the Appellant had not produced documents within seven and a half months after an order granting Respondent's motion to compel; such a delay prejudiced the Respondent's rights, Respondent was solely to blame for the delay, and such conduct was contemptuous. Id. at 467 and 832. Finding that the trial court applied the appropriate balancing test delineated in Samples, above, this Court found that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in dismissing the Appellant's condemnation action with prejudice despite the harshness of the sanction imposed. Id.

Similarly, in Griffin, this Court presided over an appeal from the trial court's order which struck Appellant's answer and awarded attorneys' fees to the Respondent. Prior to the trial court awarding sanctions under Rule 37(b), SCRPC, the trial court found that Respondent "engaged in a pattern of non-compliance with the South Carolina Rules of

Civil Procedure and with the Orders of [the] Court.” Griffin, 334 S.C. 193 at 198, 511 S.E.2d at 718. The trial court noted that Respondent had not received meaningful answers to its interrogatories during the pendency of the two year old action and found that the practice of withholding material evidence constituted a pattern of noncompliance and discovery abuse which was evidence of bad faith and willful disobedience. Id.

On appeal of the trial court’s order awarding attorneys’ fees and striking Appellant’s answer, this Court noted the selection of sanctions for discovery violations is soundly within the discretion of the trial court. Id. Notably, this Court opined that it will not interfere with a trial court’s decision unless the trial court abused its discretion. Id. However, this Court also noted that where a sanction is equivalent to entering a judgment by default, the moving party must show bad faith, willful disobedience, or gross indifference to the rights of a party to justify such a sanction. Id. at 199 and 719. With this in mind, this Court was satisfied with the reasoning of the trial court to the extent that the trial court noted:

“Although striking the defendant’s Answer is a harsh sanction, I find no less drastic sanction would be fair in this case. Four prior orders have been issued, without meaningful compliance by the defendant. A lesser sanction of attorney’s fees was imposed [in an earlier order], yet that did not result in meaningful compliance by the defendant.”
Id.

This Court found that the dialogue above evinced the trial court’s consideration of the proper factors along with the potential prejudice to the affected party. Id. In affirming the trial court’s decision, this Court noted, in conclusion, that “[t]he orders of the trial court are not Shakespearean in nature ‘full of sound and fury, signifying nothing.’” Id. In

light of these things, this Court affirmed that decision of the trial court to effectively enter a judgment by default due to repeated, continuous discovery abuses.

The facts and holdings of the lower courts in the cases cited above bear a striking resemblance to those of the instant matter. Here, Koon filed a separate action in an attempt to appeal from or otherwise invalidate an Order sanctioning Respondent for repeated, continuous discovery abuses. In the Order of the Special Referee, incident to which Koon initiated the instant matter for purposes of setting it aside, the Special Referee noted that Jackson instituted supplementary proceedings in August 2008, nearly one year after a final judgment was entered against Lake Murray and nearly two years after the original action was filed. (Record pp. 144-151.) The Special Referee noted that Jackson filed a subpoena shortly after initiating supplementary proceedings, on August 18, 2008 which required Koon to produce documents by September 22, 2008; Koon ignored the subpoena thereby causing a delay in the hearing on Jackson's motion for supplementary proceedings from October 7, 2008 to November 10, 2008. (Id. at pg. 147.) Jackson filed a Motion for Contempt on October 3, 2008 because Lake Murray, by and through Koon, failed to respond to this subpoena. In response, Lake Murray and Koon sent Jackson a package of documents on October 10, 2008. (Id.) At the hearing on November 10, 2008, the Special Referee ordered Respondent to produce additional documentation by January 31, 2009. (Id.) On or about January 27, 2009, after Jackson sent a letter to Koon detailing which documents the Special Referee ordered Lake Murray to produce, Jackson received a package that did not contain all of the ordered documents. (Id.) Jackson then sent a letter requesting that Lake Murray and Koon send all of the mandated discovery documents by March 15, 2009; neither Lake Murray nor Koon ever

responded to this letter. (Id.) On April 13, 2009, Appellant filed a motion to compel the outstanding documents. (Id.) Lake Murray and Koon did not reply to this motion nor did he attend the scheduled hearing on October 21, 2009; however Lake Murray's attorney appeared at the hearing and requested that the Special Referee relieve him as counsel. (Id. at pg. 148.) As result of Respondent's failure to appear, Appellant filed a motion for contempt order and sanctions on November 6, 2009 for which a hearing was scheduled on December 15, 2009. (Id.) Respondent did not appear at the appointed time, but Cindy Koon, Koon's late wife, did fax an "Emergency Motion for Continuance" to the Special Referee, thirty minutes before the scheduled hearing which stated that her father had passed away less than a week prior to the hearing. (Id.) The "Emergency Motion for Continuance" did not include any explanation as to why Respondent did not make any attempt to communicate with Appellant prior to communicating with the Court. (Id.)

As a result of Respondents' year and a half long course of delay, failure to appear, and refusal to comply with orders of the Special Referee, the Special Referee entered an order sanctioning Koon for activity described as "a complete disregard for legal obligations and compliance with Court orders." (Id. at p. 149.) The Special Referee noted that "[t]hroughout the entire case, Defendant, through the actions or failures to act of its sole shareholder, Koon, has repeatedly failed to comply with discovery requests and subpoenas, which has required repeated Motions to Compel." (Id.)

The Special Referee took notice of the documents that Koon elected to provide which yielded the conclusion that he, as the sole shareholder and officer of Lake Murray, used the funds of Lake Murray to pay for personal expenses ranging from the mortgage on his personal residence to online gambling debts. (Id. at p. 148.) The Special Referee

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