THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

DEC 17 2014

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM NEWBERRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge
Trial Court Case No. 2014-CP-36-00109

Appellate Case No. 2014-001215

Larry E. Koon and Allen Lee Koon, by and through his
attorney in fact, Larry E. Koon,

Respondents,

v.

Thomas Jackson Construction Inc.,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Mindy W. Zimmerman
S.C. Bar # 75793
W. Coleman Lawrimore
S.C. Bar # 100668
Zimmerman & Shealy, LLC
P.O. Box 1207
Newberry, S.C. 29108
(803) 321-0000

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

Jennifer Dowd Nichols
S.C. Bar # 75916
Robert W. Dibble, Jr.
S.C. Bar # 1675

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

evidence to the contrary. Thus, the court below had no personal jurisdiction over Allen Koon, and the judgment against him individually is void and was correctly vacated by the lower court.

2. There is no question of material fact that Allen Koon ever made a voluntary appearance conferring personal jurisdiction over himself individually.

Appellant contends in rather belabored fashion that Allen Koon, by virtue of a handful of actions he took exclusively in a representative capacity on behalf of Lake Murray Tree as its sole shareholder or registered agent, made a voluntary appearance in the original action sufficient to either automatically confer to the Court personal jurisdiction over himself, individually, or to evidence an intent to submit to the court's jurisdiction. This erroneous contention is wholly without factual or legal support.

As an initial and dispositive matter, the issue of personal or voluntary appearance was never raised by Appellants below in the present action. It was never raised in Appellant's Answer, Defenses and Counterclaim, Appellant's Motion to Dismiss, or Appellant's Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment in the present action. (R. pp. 59-62; pp. 63-64; pp. 81-84), and it was never argued at hearing. (R. pp. 105-127). It was never addressed in the lower court's Final Order Granting Summary Judgment in the present action. (R. pp.5-19). And it was never raised in any post-trial motion, since no post-trial motions were made. Therefore, the issue is not preserved for appeal. Trivelas v. S.C. Dept. of Transp., 348 S.C. 125, 558 S.E.2d 271 (Ct. App. 2001) (where defendant failed to raise issue in his argument to the court, issue was not addressed in order, and no post-trial motion raised the issue, the issue is not

preserved for appeal).

- a. Allen Koon did not make a voluntary appearance, because a voluntary appearance requires a *Defendant* to evidence an intent to submit to the Court's jurisdiction, and Allen Koon was never a Defendant in the original action.

Voluntary appearance is governed by Rule 4(d) of the SCRCP, which states in pertinent part “[v]oluntary appearance *by defendant* is equivalent to personal service . . .” Rule 4(d), SCRCP (emphasis added). The operative language here is “by defendant.” A case relied upon heavily by Appellant unequivocally states that “[t]he term ‘appearance’ is used particularly to signify or designate the overt act by which *one against whom suit has been commenced* submits himself to the court’s jurisdiction.” Stearns Bank Nat’l Assn. v. Glenwood Falls, 373 S.C. 331, 338, 644 S.E.2d 793, 796 (Ct. App. 2007) (quoting 4 Am. Jur. 2d, Appearance, Section 1 (1995)) (emphasis added). An appearance may be express, or it may be implied from some act “‘done with the intention of appearing and submitting to the court’s jurisdiction.’ . . . [C]ourts decide on a case by case basis whether *a defendant’s act demonstrates an intent to submit to the court’s jurisdiction.*” Id. (emphasis added).

The cases cited by Appellant in support of its argument that Allen Koon made a voluntary appearance provide no precedential value here, because each involve a *named defendant* in the action, who did not come under the personal jurisdiction of the court, for various reasons, usually lack of service. In Stearns, a *named defendant*, who was not served properly with a cross-claim, nonetheless made a voluntary appearance when its attorney wrote a letter to the cross-claimant’s attorney, the content of which manifested

an intent to reach the merits of the case. Id., 373 S.C. at 341, 644 S.E.2d at 798.

Likewise, in Rainwater Furniture Co. v. Blanton, 246 S.C. 172, 143 S.E.2d 124 (1965), a *named defendant* made a motion to dismiss for defect in service after striking a jury in the case. The court held that striking the jury in his case constituted a voluntary appearance, by which he submitted to the court's jurisdiction. Id., 246 S.C. at 173, 143 S.E.2d at 124. And once again in Southeastern Equip. Co. v. One 1954 Autocar Diesel Tractor, 234 S.C. 213, 107 S.E.2d 340 (1959), the *named defendant* was found to have made a voluntary appearance, thus submitting to the jurisdiction of the court despite a defect in service, when it made a motion to dissolve an attachment and demanded a copy of the Complaint, receipt of which it acknowledged. Id., 234 S.C. at 218, 107 S.E.2d at 342. Furthermore, a *named defendant* who questioned the validity of service upon him nonetheless made a voluntary appearance when he filed an Answer and Return, alleging several defenses in Connell v. Connell, 249 S.C. 162, 168, 153 S.E.2d 396, 398 (1967).

None of these cases apply legally to the present case, because they are inapposite factually. Allen Koon was *never* named as a defendant in the original action and Appellant *never* even attempted to serve Allen Koon with a Summons or Rule to Show Cause, as in each of Appellant's cited cases. Allen Koon simply was never even considered a party Defendant by anyone, not Jackson, not Jackson's attorney, not the Special Referee, and certainly not Allen Koon or Lake Murray Tree's former attorney. As such, the law of voluntary appearance does not apply.

- b. The voluntary appearance of a non-party is rare, and requires a significant undertaking to evidence intent to submit to personal jurisdiction.

Cases in which a *non-party* are alleged to have made a voluntary appearance, while they do exist, are few and far between, and require a significant undertaking, such as answering the complaint in one's own name or defending the action, to evidence a real intent for the court to have jurisdiction over the person, despite not being named a party to the action. See Ex parte Cannon, 385 S.C. 643, 685 S.E.2d 814 (S.C. App. 2009).

Appellant cites not one case in which a non-party made a voluntary appearance sufficient to grant personal jurisdiction over him. Generally, a court cannot bind a non-party to a judgment. Green Tree Servicing v. Adams, 375 S.C. 583, 654 S.E.2d 100 (2007) (foreclosure judgment in action that omitted party with a lien on the property cannot bind that non-party). However, it appears that a non-party can actually make himself a party by answering the complaint in his own name, or by defending the action, and can thus be bound by a judgment in the action. For instance, “[t]he husband of a defendant who has not been made a party to a foreclosure suit, but who *joins his wife in an answer*, will be bound by a decree. Anderson v. Watts, 138 U.S. 694, 704, 11 S.Ct. 449, 452, 34 L.Ed. 1078 (1891). And, in the only South Carolina case located that is arguably on point, a trustee and personal representative who was removed from both posts and found to be in criminal contempt in an action to remove the PR, appealed such findings, arguing he was never made a party to any proceedings in his capacity as trustee, was never served with a rule to show cause for contempt, and was only before the court in his capacity as personal representative, such that the court lacked personal jurisdiction over him. The court disagreed, stating that not only did the trustee/personal representative consent to the court's jurisdiction by accepting the appointments as such, but also he and his counsel

appeared in court and argued the merits of the action multiple times without objection to personal jurisdiction. These actions constituted a voluntary appearance by one at least technically a non-party, and thus consent to personal jurisdiction. Ex parte Cannon, 385 S.C. 643, 685 S.E.2d 814 (S.C. App. 2009).

- c. The only evidence in this case is that any action taken by Allen Koon was taken in a representative capacity, on behalf of Defendant Lake Murray Tree, and not in an individual capacity; as such, he did not make a voluntary appearance sufficient to submit himself to the jurisdiction of the court.

Under this law, Allen Koon, a *non-party* to the original action, did absolutely nothing to evidence an intent to submit himself to the jurisdiction of the court, personally. First, Appellant alleges in cursory fashion that Allen Koon “appeared at some of the Special Referee proceedings, answered a portion of the required discovery requests issued to him in supplementary proceedings, and filed an Emergency Motion for Continuance by and through his late wife.” (Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 31). What Appellant fails to address anywhere in its brief is the fact that Allen Koon was the sole shareholder of the only Defendant, Lake Murray Tree, and as such, took each action listed above in a representative capacity, as agent for Defendant Lake Murray. A corporation is not an individual; a live person must undertake to manage an action on behalf of a corporation. Allen Koon was acting solely in this capacity when he appeared at hearings, answered discovery, and submitted a motion for continuance drafted by his wife. This is especially

true after Lake Murray Tree's attorney was relieved.³

There is absolutely no indication anywhere in the case file that Allen Koon was appearing or acting in his individual capacity. Every indication is that he was acting on behalf of the corporation. He was not a named party initially, he was not served with any pleading in his individual capacity, he never accepted service, he never signed a pleading or motion on his own behalf, he never answered on his own behalf, he never filed a Notice of Appearance, there is no evidence that he ever indicated verbally in court that he was appearing in his individual capacity, and notably, the caption of the case never changed to indicate Allen Koon was a party defendant. There is simply no evidence in the record whatsoever that Allen Koon appeared in any capacity other than as agent for Lake Murray Tree. He had the absolute right to appear at a hearing in a case involving Lake Murray Tree, and such an appearance does not make him a party to the action in his individual capacity.

Furthermore, there is no indication that the Emergency Motion for Continuance filed by Cindy Koon was filed in any capacity other than representative, on behalf of the corporation. First of all, the motion does not even appear in the Clerk's file for Civil Action No. 2006-CP-36-395, and thus it is questionable whether the Motion is even properly before this Court. The only reference to the motion is in the Order Granting Motion for Contempt and Sanctions, which states "[h]owever, approximately 30 minutes before the hearing, Cindy Koon faxed an Emergency Motion for Continuance . . . to the

³ It bears noting that Lake Murray Tree was represented by Attorney Samuel Price until October 25, 2009, at which time he was relieved as counsel. After this time, Allen Koon, as shareholder of Lake Murray Tree, necessarily began appearing at hearings, in a representative capacity for Lake Murray Tree.

Court stating that her father passed away on December 9, 2009. . . . In addition, the Emergency Motion does not attempt to explain the absence of *Allen Koon or anyone else with the authority to represent the Defendant . . .*” (R. p. 148). Nowhere does the Order say or even suggest that the Emergency Motion for Continuance was made on behalf of Allen Koon, individually. Instead, it refers to Allen Koon in a purely representative capacity, and even distinguishes him from the Defendant, Lake Murray Tree. Thus, even the Order which Appellant seeks to uphold in this appeal states clearly that Allen Koon’s role at the hearing was for the purpose of *representing the Defendant, Lake Murray*. To argue otherwise in light of this language is disingenuous.

Lastly, Appellant argues that Allen Koon made a voluntary appearance sufficient to waive personal jurisdiction by two additional actions: 1) in bringing the present action under Rule 60 in 2014 to set aside the Judgment against Allen Koon, individually, and 2) by filing, in the original action, a motion to relieve Lake Murray Tree from the judgment against it. (R. pp. 139-142). Neither of these actions are sufficient to constitute a voluntary appearance, for multiple compelling reasons.

First, and most importantly, a voluntary appearance conferring personal jurisdiction, to be binding upon the party as the equivalent of personal service, must be made *before* judgment is rendered against such party. The court must have jurisdiction at the time the judgment is rendered; it cannot be acquired after. State ex rel McCall v. Cohen, 13 S.C. 198 (1880); see also Langley v. Graham, 322 S.C. 428, 472 S.E.2d 259 (Ct. App. 1996) (citing Cohen). Lake Murray Tree’s motion, entitled Relief from Judgment, was filed on March 3, 2010, *after* the judgment was rendered against Allen

Koon, personally. And clearly, the present action to set aside the judgment against Allen Koon personally was filed in 2014, long after the judgment attached to Allen Koon. As such, neither are sufficient to validate the personal judgment, as neither conferred to the court jurisdiction *at the time* the judgment was rendered.

Even, however, if these actions were taken before judgment was rendered, neither action indicates the requisite intent to become a party to the *original* action. Plainly, filing the present action under Rule 60 in 2014, which seeks to set aside the judgment entered against Allen Koon personally in the *original* action, does not indicate an intent to come under the jurisdiction of the court in the *original* action. Such an argument is nonsensical. The present 2014 action is a completely separate action, and Allen Koon's act in seeking invalidation of a judgment from a previous action cannot afford personal jurisdiction over him in that previous action.

And furthermore, the Relief From Judgment (R. pp. 139-142) was submitted and signed by "Allen Lee Koon, Registered Agent for Lake Murray Tree, Inc.," again, acting in a representative capacity. The motion "gives the court Notice that the Judgment entered *against Defendant Lake Murray Tree Inc. on August 6, 2007* is void for lack of jurisdiction" by virtue of a random and legally insufficient Statute of Frauds argument that Lake Murray Tree was attempting to assert. Importantly, nowhere does the motion attempt to set aside the judgment against Allen Koon personally. Thus, Allen Koon was seeking relief specifically for Lake Murray Tree, not for himself, and as such, was acting in a representative capacity. The only language that Appellant points to as indicating that Allen Koon was making a voluntary appearance sufficient to evidence an intent to

become a party defendant, albeit *after* the Judgment was entered, is the first sentence of the motion, which states “Lake Murray Tree, Inc. by and through Allen Lee Koon, and Allen Lee Koon, alleged defendants” However, based on the relief sought, on behalf of Lake Murray Tree only, and based on the method by which Allen Koon signed the motion, on behalf of Lake Murray Tree only, this language referencing himself as a defendant appears to be a mere misnomer or mistake by an unsophisticated shareholder of a company without legal counsel. Regardless, based on the above-cited cases, such language hardly rises to the level required to evidence that a non-party has the intent to make himself a party to the action.

Lastly, Appellant’s argument under Stearns and Rainwater, that this Relief from Judgment attempted to invoke the court’s jurisdiction for one purpose (to set aside judgment for lack of subject matter jurisdiction) and thereby constituted a general appearance, waiving any personal jurisdiction argument, must fail as well, for all the reasons stated above. Even if none of the above arguments were compelling, the Relief from Judgment questioned only the court’s subject matter jurisdiction, and the law is clear that “a defendant cannot be said to have waived personal jurisdiction merely because he alerts the court to other types of jurisdictional defects” as well. Maybin v. Northside Correctional Center, 891 F.2d 72 (4th Cir. 1989) (defendant that was improperly served did not make voluntary appearance sufficient to waive personal jurisdiction simply because it argued other jurisdictional defects as well, as long as it did not argue the merits). Thus, Respondent’s Relief from Judgment could not have constituted a general appearance for the additional reason that it argued only a

jurisdictional defect, and could not thereby have waived personal jurisdiction.

3. The trial court did not err in granting summary judgment, because there was no question of fact that Allen Koon was not subject to the personal jurisdiction of the court, the proper standard was used in granting summary judgment, and the Special Referee did abuse his discretion by making an error of law in entering a judgment against Allen Koon individually that was unauthorized by law.

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